


nestle directly between the 13 premises immediately adjacent. The Bramshill decision does not 
seem to make a difference here. 
The Character Study references 
triangle. The linear settlement associated with Shorrock Green, from Nabs Head to Rose Cottage still 
exists, with more properties (from bar 
those within Woodfold. 
Importantly, the 39 properties that have been issued with consultation letters underlines the lack of 
isolation. That this does not include all of those served by the private water supply is an oversight. 
It is not isolated in terms of employment opportunities (Samlesbury Business Park 1.5 miles), 
public transport (1 mile), motorway access (3.5 miles) which are all on the doorstep. Unfortunately, 
the local pub closed 12 months ago, and the local post office a number of years ago. 
The recent spike of 7 planning applications within 0.5km of the proposed site along Further Lane 

residential location, which is reinforced by the speculative purchase of 
the field by the applicant. 
Whether or not a weekend retreat (see para 18 of Counsel`s advice) qualifies as a home is perhaps 
another issue worthy of consideration. As stated, it is not intended to be lived in permanently, and is 
not the modest retirement property one might expect. 
In any event, it is by no description 
from other NPPF and Core Strategy policies do not apply, and the policies relating to Green Belt and 
the Conservation of Heritage Assets are engaged in full. 

either historically or today, and so the exemptions 

USE OF PARAGRAPH 134 

cannot be true. 
USE OF PARAGRAPH 147 
Inappropriate development is de facto harmful to the environment. Counsel contends that the 
exception of ̀very special circumstances` applies here because of the TAG concluding the house is 
exceptional under paragraph 80(e). This would be negated if TAG had relied on false information, 
and because in terms of paragraph 134 it does not fit in the rural location. As it harms the setting of 
the heritage asset, does not lie within a settlement boundary, is green belt and does not fit it with 
the rural surroundings, the fall back would be that it is inappropriate. 
PARAGRAPH 201 
Paragraph 201 however is engaged: Where a proposed development will lead to substantial harm 
to (or total loss of significance of) a designated heritage asset, local planning authorities should 
refuse consent, unless 

it can be demonstrated that the substantial harm or total loss is necessary to achieve 
substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm or loss, or 
All of the following apply: 
o The nature of the heritage asset prevents all reasonable uses of the site; 
o No viable use of the heritage asset itself can be found in the medium term through 

;



o Conservation by grant-funding or some form of not for profit or charitable or public 
ownership is demonstrably not possible, and 

o The harm or loss is outweighed by bringing the site back into use . 
None of the exceptions apply in this case, but as described below considerable harm to the setting of 
the RPG arises from the proposal.. 
HISTORICAL CHARACTER DEFINITION STUDY , DESIGN AND ACCESS STATEMENTS AND 

There are many errors, omissions and contradictions in the submitted documents, far too many to 
address here, not least the Character Study favours McNiven as the architect, and the D&A 
Statement, Wyatt. Properties are variously mis-described, including in the Planning Statement 
Woodfold Hall (which is not visible from Further Lane); Cooks Farm (which is not on the same side of 
the road as the development site or part of it). The numerous discrepancies are carried from one 
document to the next without challenge. Whilst the story told is a good one, it simply does not stand 
up to scrutiny when examined in detail against the maps and historical records (Lancs Archives and 
Abram, History of Blackburn 1877). 
The following factual errors fundamentally undermine the proposition that this development 
enhances the Heritage Asset of the Registered Park and Garden (RPG), and instead supports the 
argument that the proposal causes substantial harm to the RPG. The Character Study either 
misunderstands the historical context of Woodfold Park, or, worryingly, misrepresents it. These 
discrepancies do not seem to have been scrutinised to any extent by the Traditional Architecture 
Group Peer Review (TAG) which instead seems to have focussed on the design of the building. 
TAG, it seems, would endorse this development in ANY isolated location. 

1. Hall 
The application puts Shorrock Green Hall at the centre of Sudell`s plan for his north entrance. A 
property of this description is neither noted on maps nor mentioned in historical records. It does not 
seem to have existed. Whilst David Crossley may have preached at Shorrock Green in 1736, there is 
no mention of Shorrock Green Hall. In fact the house of Thomas Butterworth of Shorrock Green is 

will evidence 
there were many properties located around Shorrock Green at this time. 
The property referred to at this location is in fact Withalgh House, or Whithalgh Tenement. This is 
corroborated by: 

The name given to the road in front of it on the 1831 sales plan. 
Blackburn Grammar School records that describe it as a house, barn and 29 acres that was 
gifted to them in 1625 by James Withalgh, a governor of the school. It was then let as a farm 
tenancy and provided the school with income for many years. 
There are records of various leases over the next 100 years or so, until around 1726. 
There are two leases of particular interest which confirm a joint tenancy between two 
school governors - Yates (Stanley House) and Clayton (The family of the Blackburn Parish 
Church vicar). In 1666 it is noted that Leonard Clayton, clerk, of Shorrock Green had 7 
hearths taxed, as the occupier of the house. In 1673 it is noted that Yates Stanley House 
estate at Mellor was contiguous with the school land, indicating it ran to the east from 
Whithalgh House. The arrangement seems to have been that the land was worked as an 
extension to the Yates estate, but the house occupied by the Claytons.



In 1793, whilst assembling the land for his new home, Sudell acquired 
Meadow and part of the Barn Field from the Grammar School, in an exchange for some of 
the land he already owned. The land Sudell gave in exchange was Nearer Green Meadow, 
Further Green Field, Shorrock Green Croft, and part of Meadow Field. All clearly associated 
with Shorrock Green. These were fields in front of Whithalgh House and forming part of the 
site of this proposal. 
In 1801 Sudell bought the exchanged fields back from the school. 

2. The diversion of Further Lane 

Despite being highlighted in the 19/5/22 TAG note 
not been dealt with in the Character Study. Yates 1786 map presented below is, however, very 

The road situated above the area noted on the map as Shorrocks Green takes a flat route from 
Ravens Wings to Sugar House. ( above the road.) At Sugar House the road heads 

to Mellor, a right turn, the road to Blackburn. The Blackburn road turns left at the Deer House before 
falling to Arley Fold. Here it meets the bottom of the Avenue from Stanley House. This last section of 
the old road, as it approaches Arley Fold, meanders consistent with the descent, and would have 
been difficult for carriages to negotiate. 

north-east towards a T-junction at Withalgh. The remnants of hedges along this stretch of road are 
what the applicant refers to as he Avenue A left turn at Whithalgh takes the road 

Sudell had in mind a new route for his carriage journey to Blackburn. (Note, the New Turnpike Road 
was not constructed until much later in 1827/8, when Sudell had left Woodfold after becoming 
bankrupt). 
By 1801 Sudell owned all the land he needed to implement his plan. Sometime after Yates 1786 
map 
north re-joining the road above Whithalgh at a new cross roads. Here he constructed a new, flatter 
carriage track that connected with the Stanley House Avenue much closer to the top. He built the



park wall alongside the new carriage road and imparked the land behind Whithalgh that he had 
previously acquired from the school by exchange. The wall extended as far as the Deer House 
before turning to Ravens Wings. below illustrates this point well: 

Sudell did this deliberately to move the public road further away from the Park, and to create a new, 
improved route for his carriage drive to Blackburn. He had created space to construct his offices, 
stables and a gatehouse in the right-angle formed by the new park walls. 
Most significantly in terms of the current Woodfold Villa proposal, he applied a design master- 
stroke. By moving the road north, beyond the ridge, he screened the stables and parkland from view 
from the new Further Lane using the topography of the land. This is evidenced in a Character Study 
photograph that shows the view from Further Lane with just the top of the stables visible above the 
ridge. From the new Further Lane the rural community looked much as it always had. He had hidden 
the park in plain sight.



Image showing the remnants of the old road (not an ̀avenue`) between Sugar House and Whithalgh 
are evident on the 1840s OS map (below). 

Until 1827 Sudell deliberately and purposefully implemented his scheme. The 1831 sale plan 
evidences that scheme. The area behind the stables/farm was exactly how he envisaged it, marked 
out as paddocks to turn out his horses 
elevation of the stables was designed to be seen from within his parkland, standing proud above the 
pleasure gardens. 

3. Shorrock Green 

. The striking southern 

The application erroneously describes the hamlet of Shorrock Green as sitting on the triangular 
application site between the park walls and Further Lane. Yates map below shows the area of 
Shorrocks Green stretching across from Alum Scar Lane in the west to Arley Fold in the east, and 
bounded to the south by Arley Brook. On the other side of the brook, to the south, the area is known 
as Shorrocks Hey.



All properties on the road bounding the site north of the brook are likely to have been known as 
Shorrock Green throughout the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries, particularly because the 
premises have significant relationships between them. The 1840 OS map shows a number of wells in 
the vicinity of Ravens Wing and on higher ground. Water flowed via Channels House & Little 
Channels to the Tun House (tannery) on Alum Scar Lane. 
House. Green Hurst Farm is also associated by name with the area of Shorrock Green, meaning 
wooded hill on the green (see below). 

The areas of Shorrocks Green and Shorrocks Hey became (what is now known as) Woodfold Park. 
After this imparkment it is likely that the inhabitants of premises on the road lying above the Park 
still regarded themselves as living at Shorrock Green, explaining the name sitting further north on 
the 1841 OS map. 

4. Situation of The Villa 
No examples are provided where such a villa has been added to an existing country estate outside of 
the parkland. Quite why the proprietor of such a grand estate would choose to place the villa 
between the farm and 
entertainment villa as it is not part of the imparked land and does not benefit from any of the 
splendid views on offer. It is also 
Statement which questions his absence from the Guild. 

cottages is unclear. It`s location here is inconsistent with an 

It is also disingenuous to suggest this would be a natural extension of the work of the landscape 
designer, because the successors to the Estate were wealthy people who continued to add to the 
Park. Notably there is an entertainment venue at the White House, a two-storey bay windowed 
banqueting house. Perfectly situated, sitting just above the lake near the pheasantry, with fantastic 
views across the parklands to the mansion house, aviary and pleasure gardens beyond. 
The use of the triangle of land behind the farm has always been functional. Sitting above the 
northern slopes of the Park, only the ornate southern elevation of the stable block was visible from 
the Park. The main entrance to the Mansion was from the south and this northern gateway was a 
service entrance. Sudell purposefully created it the way it was, and in later ownership the triangle



behind remained integral to the running of the Estate. Fowden Hindle built the 
Huntsmans 

cottages at 
towards Cooks Farm. 

public road. The Park was not intended to be visible from outside its walls, and the views from within 
the walls were focussed on the designed landscape. The site was carefully chosen to create a 
masterpiece, carefully crafted using the topography, tree planting and walling to limit views and 
keep the deer inside the Park. People who lived close to Woodfold for many years did not know it 
was there. It was designed as a hidden gem. 

very deliberately used the ridge in the triangle to screen the stable block from the 

Contrast that with this proposal. The speculative purchase of part of a field, the engagement of a 
specialist team of experts tasked to design a house with the best chance of getting through the 
planning process, a belated right to buy arrangement with the neighbour in order to complete the 
design concept, and a resulting scheme that puts this imposing building on full view to those within 
the imparked area and from outside of it 
intention for his park. 
CONCLUSION 
Paragraph 80 is not engaged because the site remains part of the long-established linear settlement 
that bounded Shorrock Green, and is connected to Nabs Head. 
Paragraph 134 is not engaged because the development does not fit in with its surroundings. 
Paragraph 147 is engaged because there are no special circumstances. 
In summary, the application does not stand up to scrutiny. It is what it appears to be, a fanciful and 
brazen attempt to obtain permission to build a new weekend retreat in a desirable location (or 
perhaps a future hotel/wedding venue?). 
The proposal does not enhance the setting, because the historical character of the setting has been 
misinterpreted and misunderstood in the preparatory work completed on behalf of the applicant. 
This work has been used by the TAG and by Counsel to draw flawed conclusions. Examples of those 
errors are: 

Shorrock Green Hall is apparently a fabrication, absent from any map submitted with the 
application (1786 to 1910) indicating that the applicant was also unable to place it. This is in 
contrast to many lesser properties being named on maps consistently throughout the 
period. 
Whithalgh House nto 
there. By 1800 it was no longer a grand house, having been a tenanted farm since 1625. 
There was no ̀avenue` between the House and Sugar House, just the remnants of the 
roadside hedge to the old road. The House was demolished by 1860 to make way for the 
Huntsmans Cottages. 
Sudell`s diversion of Further Lane is strangely omitted from the Character Study, yet is the 
most striking evidence of the intention to naturally screen the stable block and parkland 
from the public road (the view from the ridge of the imaginary Avenue on the triangle is 
irrelevant). The view from the new Futher Lane remained largely the same, and the rural 
settlement from Nabs Head to Bolton Fold was left very much unaltered by Sudell`s scheme. 
Shorrock Green was mis-located, and the settlement that had assembled around it was 
overlooked. 

; it just happened to be

























There are also other issues, listed here, that are potential objections and indicate applicant 
oversight, each of which may be dealt with under separate cover following this initial objection note, 
namely: 

Construction issues. 
Incomplete information for the larger plot, i.e. including Forge 
Authority of the third landowner, i.e. water reservoir. 
Damage to habitat and support for wildlife including wild birds, amphibians, bats, owls, 
badgers, deer, hares, hedgehogs amongst others. 
The impact on the private water supply and any underground streams or other sources. 
Drainage issues as there are no public sewers, specifically the swimming pool & location of 
septic tank (also implications relating to the proposed sunken car parking area). 
Privacy issues - location, proximity to existing properties, and dimensions of the building. 
Planting issues tree type, height, overhang, root spread. 
Lack of sustainability in design. 
The dominant and incongruous development (in terms of the prominent roadside location in 
a rural community, the installation of garden structures etc). 
Access issues via Further Lane which is unsuitable for the current volume of traffic. 
A full examination against NPPF & Core Strategy policies including safeguarding against 
future change of use applications. 

KEY POINTS 
In relation to the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), the key issues are: 
USE OF PARAGRAPH 80 
Counsel advice provided with the application relies on a May 22 Design & Access Statement as the 
basis for his advice. It makes reference to case law concerning the term He suggests that 
the proposed dwelling can be considered isolated, notwithstanding it proximity to Woodfold Park 
Farm and the Huntsman Cottages. It is not clear if Counsel is aware that there are 10 properties at 
the Farm, and 3 at the Cottages. Nor is it clear if he knows that there are approximately 45 
residential family properties within 0.5km of the proposed house. All properties use the same access 
of Further Lane, and 36 properties use the same drive into Woodfold Park. This proposed 
development is not physically isolated from a settlement in terms of Braintree it is very obvious 
that it is part of a longstanding linear settlement, sits within a thriving community and does in fact 
nestle directly between the 13 premises immediately adjacent. The Bramshill decision does not 
seem to make a difference here. 
The Character Study references the of Shorrock Green albeit conveniently misplaced in the 
triangle. The linear settlement associated with Shorrock Green, from Nabs Head to Rose Cottage still 
exists, with more properties (from barn conversions etc) than there were in Sudell day, including 
those within Woodfold. 
Importantly, the 39 properties that have been issued with consultation letters underlines the lack of 
isolation. That this does not include all of those served by the private water supply is an oversight. 
It is not in terms of employment opportunities (Samlesbury Business Park 1.5 miles), 
public transport (1 mile), motorway access (3.5 miles) which are all on the doorstep. Unfortunately, 
the local pub closed 12 months ago, and the local post office a number of years ago.



The recent spike of 7 planning applications within 0.5km of the proposed site along Further Lane 
indicates it desirability as a residential location, which is reinforced by the speculative purchase of 
the field by the applicant. 
Whether or not a weekend retreat (see para 18 of Counsel`s advice) qualifies as a home is perhaps 
another issue worthy of consideration. As stated, it is not intended to be lived in permanently, and is 
not the modest retirement property one might expect. 
In any event, it is by no description either historically or today, and so the exemptions 
from other NPPF and Core Strategy policies do not apply, and the policies relating to Green Belt and 
the Conservation of Heritage Assets are engaged in full. 
USE OF PARAGRAPH 134 
Paragraph 134 includes a proviso whereby outstanding designs should be given weight 
they fit in with the overall form and layout of their surroundings For the reasons set out below that 
cannot be true. 

long as 

USE OF PARAGRAPH 147 
Inappropriate development is de facto harmful to the environment. Counsel contends that the 
exception of ̀very special circumstances` applies here because of the TAG concluding the house is 
exceptional under paragraph 80(e). This would be negated if TAG had relied on false information, 
and because in terms of paragraph 134 it does not fit in the rural location. As it harms the setting of 
the heritage asset, does not lie within a settlement boundary, is green belt and does not fit it with 
the rural surroundings, the fall back would be that it is inappropriate. 
PARAGRAPH 201 
Paragraph 201 however is engaged: 
to (or total loss of significance of) a designated heritage asset, local planning authorities should 
refuse consent, unless 

a proposed development will lead to substantial harm 

it can be demonstrated that the substantial harm or total loss is necessary to achieve 
substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm or loss, or 
All of the following apply: 
o The nature of the heritage asset prevents all reasonable uses of the site; o No viable 

use of the heritage asset itself can be found in the medium term through 
appropriate marketing that will enable it conservation; 

o Conservation by grant-funding or some form of not for profit or charitable or public 
ownership is demonstrably not possible, and 

o The harm or loss is outweighed by bringing the site back into use 
None of the exceptions apply in this case, but as described below considerable harm to the setting of 
the RPG arises from the proposal.. 
HISTORICAL 

STATEMENT 
There are many errors, omissions and contradictions in the submitted documents, far too many to 
address here, not least the Character Study favours McNiven as the architect, and the D&A 

DEFINITION STUDY AND ACCESS STATEMENTS AND



Statement, Wyatt. Properties are variously mis-described, including in the Planning Statement 
Woodfold Hall (which is not visible from Further Lane); Cooks Farm (which is not on the same side of 
the road as the development site or part of it). The numerous discrepancies are carried from one 
document to the next without challenge. Whilst the story told is a good one, it simply does not stand 
up to scrutiny when examined in detail against the maps and historical records (Lancs Archives and 
Abram, History of Blackburn 1877). 
The following factual errors fundamentally undermine the proposition that this development 
enhances the Heritage Asset of the Registered Park and Garden (RPG), and instead supports the 
argument that the proposal causes substantial harm to the RPG. The Character Study either 
misunderstands the historical context of Woodfold Park, or, worryingly, misrepresents it. These 
discrepancies do not seem to have been scrutinised to any extent by the Traditional Architecture 
Group Peer Review (TAG) which instead seems to have focussed on the design of the building. 
TAG, it seems, would endorse this development in ANY isolated location. 

1. Green Hall 
The application puts Shorrock Green Hall at the centre of Sudell`s plan for his north entrance. A 
property of this description is neither noted on maps nor mentioned in historical records. It does not 
seem to have existed. Whilst David Crossley may have preached at Shorrock Green in 1736, there is 
no mention of Shorrock Green Hall. In fact the house of Thomas Butterworth of Shorrock Green is 
registered as a dissenter meeting place at the Quarter Sessions circa 1735. As we will evidence 
there were many properties located around Shorrock Green at this time. 
The property referred to at this location is in fact Withalgh House, or Whithalgh Tenement. This is 
corroborated by: 

The name given to the road in front of it on the 1831 sales plan. 
Blackburn Grammar School records that describe it as a house, barn and 29 acres that was 
gifted to them in 1625 by James Withalgh, a governor of the school. It was then let as a farm 
tenancy and provided the school with income for many years. 
There are records of various leases over the next 100 years or so, until around 1726. 
There are two leases of particular interest which confirm a joint tenancy between two 
school governors - Yates (Stanley House) and Clayton (The family of the Blackburn Parish 
Church vicar). In 1666 it is noted that Leonard Clayton, clerk, of Shorrock Green had 7 
hearths taxed, as the occupier of the house. In 1673 it is noted that Yates Stanley House 
estate at Mellor was contiguous with the school land, indicating it ran to the east from 
Whithalgh House. The arrangement seems to have been that the land was worked as an 
extension to the Yates estate, but the house occupied by the Claytons. 
In 1793, whilst assembling the land for his new home, Sudell acquired Whithalgh Great 
Meadow and part of the Barn Field from the Grammar School, in an exchange for some of 
the land he already owned. The land Sudell gave in exchange was Nearer Green Meadow, 
Further Green Field, Shorrock Green Croft, and part of Meadow Field. All clearly associated 
with Shorrock Green. These were fields in front of Whithalgh House and forming part of the 
site of this proposal. 
In 1801 Sudell bought the exchanged fields back from the school.



2. The diversion of Further Lane 

Despite being highlighted in the 19/5/22 TAG note supplied by the applicant, Sudell diversion has 
not been dealt with in the Character Study. Yates 1786 map presented below is, however, very 
helpful in understanding Sudell intentions for his newly acquired land. 

The road situated above the area noted on the map as 
Ravens Wings to Sugar House. (Cooks Farm 

Green takes a flat route from 
above the road.) At Sugar House the road heads 

north-east towards a T-junction at Withalgh. The remnants of hedges along this stretch of road are 
what the applicant refers to as Avenue on Green A left turn at Whithalgh takes the road 
to Mellor, a right turn, the road to Blackburn. The Blackburn road turns left at the Deer House before 
falling to Arley Fold. Here it meets the bottom of the Avenue from Stanley House. This last section of 
the old road, as it approaches Arley Fold, meanders consistent with the descent, and would have 
been difficult for carriages to negotiate. 
Sudell had in mind a new route for his carriage journey to Blackburn. (Note, the New Turnpike Road 
was not constructed until much later in 1827/8, when Sudell had left Woodfold after becoming 
bankrupt). 
By 1801 Sudell owned all the land he needed to implement his plan. Sometime after Yates 1786 
map, but before Greenwood 1818 map, Sudell closed the old road at Ravens Wings and rerouted it 
north re-joining the road above Whithalgh at a new cross roads. Here he constructed a new, flatter 
carriage track that connected with the Stanley House Avenue much closer to the top. He built the 
park wall alongside the new carriage road and imparked the land behind Whithalgh that he had 
previously acquired from the school by exchange. The wall extended as far as the Deer House 
before turning to Ravens Wings. Greenwood map below illustrates this point well:



Sudell did this deliberately to move the public road further away from the Park, and to create a new, 
improved route for his carriage drive to Blackburn. He had created space to construct his offices, 
stables and a gatehouse in the right-angle formed by the new park walls. 
Most significantly in terms of the current Woodfold Villa proposal, he applied a design masterstroke. 
By moving the road north, beyond the ridge, he screened the stables and parkland from view from 
the new Further Lane using the topography of the land. This is evidenced in a Character Study 
photograph that shows the view from Further Lane with just the top of the stables visible above the 
ridge. From the new Further Lane the rural community looked much as it always had. He had hidden 
the park in plain sight. 

Image showing the remnants of the old road (not an ̀avenue`) between Sugar House and Whithalgh 
are evident on the 1840s OS map (below).



Until 1827 Sudell deliberately and purposefully implemented his scheme. The 1831 sale plan 
evidences that scheme. The area behind the stables/farm was exactly how he envisaged it, marked 
out as paddocks to turn out his horses, totally consistent with it use today. The striking southern 
elevation of the stables was designed to be seen from within his parkland, standing proud above the 
pleasure gardens. 

3. Shorrock Green 
The application erroneously describes the hamlet of Shorrock Green as sitting on the triangular 
application site between the park walls and Further Lane. Yates map below shows the area of 
Shorrocks Green stretching across from Alum Scar Lane in the west to Arley Fold in the east, and 
bounded to the south by Arley Brook. On the other side of the brook, to the south, the area is known 
as Shorrocks Hey. 

All properties on the road bounding the site north of the brook are likely to have been known as 
Shorrock Green throughout the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries, particularly because the 
premises have significant relationships between them. The 1840 OS map shows a number of wells in 
the vicinity of Ravens Wing and on higher ground. Water flowed via Channels House & Little



Channels to the Tun House (tannery) on Alum Scar Lane. are also indicated at Wallbanks 
House. Green Hurst Farm is also associated by name with the area of Shorrock Green, meaning 
wooded hill on the green (see below). 

The areas of Shorrocks Green and Shorrocks Hey became (what is now known as) Woodfold Park. 
After this it is likely that the inhabitants of premises on the road lying above the Park 
still regarded themselves as living at Shorrock Green, explaining the name sitting further north on 
the 1841 OS map. 

4. Situation of The Villa 
No examples are provided where such a villa has been added to an existing country estate outside of 
the parkland. Quite why the proprietor of such a grand estate would choose to place the villa 
between the farm and workers cottages is unclear. It`s location here is inconsistent with an 
entertainment villa as it is not part of the imparked land and does not benefit from any of the 
splendid views on offer. It is also inconsistent with Sudell lifestyle, supported by the D&A 
Statement which questions his absence from the Guild. 
It is also disingenuous to suggest this would be a natural extension of the work of the landscape 
designer, because the successors to the Estate were wealthy people who continued to add to the 
Park. Notably there is an entertainment venue at the White House, a two-storey bay windowed 
banqueting house. Perfectly situated, sitting just above the lake near the pheasantry, with fantastic 
views across the parklands to the mansion house, aviary and pleasure gardens beyond. 
The use of the triangle of land behind the farm has always been functional. Sitting above the 
northern slopes of the Park, only the ornate southern elevation of the stable block was visible from 
the Park. The main entrance to the Mansion was from the south and this northern gateway was a 
service entrance. Sudell purposefully created it the way it was, and in later ownership the triangle 
behind remained integral to the running of the Estate. Fowden Hindle built the workers cottages at 
Huntsmans, and the Thwaites installed the Estate Water Supply towards Cooks Farm.



Sudell design very deliberately used the ridge in the triangle to screen the stable block from the 
public road. The Park was not intended to be visible from outside its walls, and the views from within 
the walls were focussed on the designed landscape. The site was carefully chosen to create a 
masterpiece, carefully crafted using the topography, tree planting and walling to limit views and 
keep the deer inside the Park. People who lived close to Woodfold for many years did not know it 
was there. It was designed as a hidden gem. 
Contrast that with this proposal. The speculative purchase of part of a field, the engagement of a 
specialist team of experts tasked to design a house with the best chance of getting through the 
planning process, a belated right to buy arrangement with the neighbour in order to complete the 
design concept, and a resulting scheme that puts this imposing building on full view to those within 
the imparked area and from outside of it. Ostentatious in it extreme. This was never Henry Sudell 
intention for his park. 
CONCLUSION 
Paragraph 80 is not engaged because the site remains part of the long-established linear settlement 
that bounded Shorrock Green, and is connected to Nabs Head. 
Paragraph 134 is not engaged because the development does not fit in with its surroundings. 
Paragraph 147 is engaged because there are no special circumstances. 
In summary, the application does not stand up to scrutiny. It is what it appears to be, a fanciful and 
brazen attempt to obtain permission to build a new weekend retreat in a desirable location (or 
perhaps a future hotel/wedding venue?). 
The proposal does not enhance the setting, because the historical character of the setting has been 
misinterpreted and misunderstood in the preparatory work completed on behalf of the applicant. 
This work has been used by the TAG and by Counsel to draw flawed conclusions. Examples of those 
errors are: 

Shorrock Green Hall is apparently a fabrication, absent from any map submitted with the 
application (1786 to 1910) indicating that the applicant was also unable to place it. This is in 
contrast to many lesser properties being named on maps consistently throughout the 
period. 
Whithalgh House was not into Henry Sudell scheme; it just happened to be 
there. By 1800 it was no longer a grand house, having been a tenanted farm since 1625. 
There was no ̀avenue` between the House and Sugar House, just the remnants of the 
roadside hedge to the old road. The House was demolished by 1860 to make way for the 
Huntsmans Cottages. 
Sudell`s diversion of Further Lane is strangely omitted from the Character Study, yet is the 
most striking evidence of the intention to naturally screen the stable block and parkland 
from the public road (the view from the ridge of the imaginary Avenue on the triangle is 
irrelevant). The view from the new Futher Lane remained largely the same, and the rural 
settlement from Nabs Head to Bolton Fold was left very much unaltered by Sudell`s scheme. 
Shorrock Green was mis-located, and the settlement that had assembled around it was 
overlooked.













Counsel advice provided with the application relies on a May 22 Design & Access Statement as the basis for his 
advice. It makes reference to case law concerning the term He suggests that the proposed dwelling can 
be considered isolated, notwithstanding it proximity to Woodfold Park Farm and the Huntsman Cottages. It is 
not clear if Counsel is aware that there are 10 properties at the Farm, and 3 at the Cottages. Nor is it clear if he 
knows that there are approximately 45 
residential family properties within 0.5km of the proposed house. All properties use the same access of Further 
Lane, and 36 properties use the same drive into Woodfold Park. This proposed development is not physically 
isolated from a settlement in terms of Braintree it is very obvious that it is part of a longstanding linear 
settlement, sits within a thriving community and does in fact 
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nestle directly between the 13 premises immediately adjacent. The Bramshill decision does not seem to make a 
difference here. 
The Character Study references the 
linear settlement associated with Shorrock Green, from Nabs Head to Rose Cottage still exists, with more properties 
(from barn conversions etc) than there were in Sudell day, including those within Woodfold. 

of Shorrock Green albeit conveniently misplaced in the triangle. The 

Importantly, the 39 properties that have been issued with consultation letters underlines the lack of isolation. That 
this does not include all of those served by the private water supply is an oversight. 
It is not in terms of employment opportunities (Samlesbury Business Park 1.5 miles), public transport (1 
mile), motorway access (3.5 miles) which are all on the doorstep. Unfortunately, the local pub closed 12 months 
ago, and the local post office a number of years ago. 
The recent spike of 7 planning applications within 0.5km of the proposed site along Further Lane 
indicates it desirability as a residential location, which is reinforced by the speculative purchase of the field by the 
applicant. 
Whether or not a weekend retreat (see para 18 of Counsel`s advice) qualifies as a home is perhaps another issue 
worthy of consideration. As stated, it is not intended to be lived in permanently, and is not the modest retirement 
property one might expect. 
In any event, it is by no description 
and Core Strategy policies do not apply, and the policies relating to Green Belt and the Conservation of Heritage 
Assets are engaged in full. 

either historically or today, and so the exemptions from other NPPF 

USE OF PARAGRAPH 134 
Paragraph 134 includes a proviso whereby outstanding designs should be given weight 
they fit in with the overall form and layout of their surroundings For the reasons set out below that 
cannot be true. 

long as 

USE OF PARAGRAPH 147 
Inappropriate development is de facto harmful to the environment. Counsel contends that the exception of ̀very 
special circumstances` applies here because of the TAG concluding the house is exceptional under paragraph 
80(e). This would be negated if TAG had relied on false information, and because in terms of paragraph 134 it does 
not fit in the rural location. As it harms the setting of the heritage asset, does not lie within a settlement 
boundary, is green belt and does not fit it with the rural surroundings, the fall back would be that it is 
inappropriate. 
PARAGRAPH 201 
Paragraph 201 however is engaged: 
of significance of) a designated heritage asset, local planning authorities should refuse consent, unless 

? it can be demonstrated that the substantial harm or total loss is necessary to achieve substantial 
public benefits that outweigh that harm or loss, or 

a proposed development will lead to substantial harm to (or total loss 

appropriate marketing that will enable it conservation; 

? All of the following apply: 
o The nature of the heritage asset prevents all reasonable uses of the site; 
o No viable use of the heritage asset itself can be found in the medium term through 
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o Conservation by grant-funding or some form of not for profit or charitable or public ownership is 
demonstrably not possible, and 

o The harm or loss is outweighed by bringing the site back into use 
None of the exceptions apply in this case, but as described below considerable harm to the setting of the RPG arises 
from the proposal.. 
HISTORICAL 

STATEMENT 
There are many errors, omissions and contradictions in the submitted documents, far too many to address here, 
not least the Character Study favours McNiven as the architect, and the D&A Statement, Wyatt. Properties are 
variously mis-described, including in the Planning Statement Woodfold Hall (which is not visible from Further Lane); 
Cooks Farm (which is not on the same side of the road as the development site or part of it). The numerous 
discrepancies are carried from one document to the next without challenge. Whilst the story told is a good one, it 
simply does not stand up to scrutiny when examined in detail against the maps and historical records (Lancs 
Archives and Abram, History of Blackburn 1877). 
The following factual errors fundamentally undermine the proposition that this development enhances the Heritage 
Asset of the Registered Park and Garden (RPG), and instead supports the argument that the proposal causes 
substantial harm to the RPG. The Character Study either misunderstands the historical context of Woodfold Park, or, 
worryingly, misrepresents it. These discrepancies do not seem to have been scrutinised to any extent by the 
Traditional Architecture Group Peer Review (TAG) which instead seems to have focused on the design of the 
building. 
TAG, it seems, would endorse this development in ANY isolated location. 

1. Green Hall 
The application puts Shorrock Green Hall at the centre of Sudell`s plan for his north entrance. A property of this 
description is neither noted on maps nor mentioned in historical records. It does not seem to have existed. Whilst 
David Crossley may have preached at Shorrock Green in 1736, there is no mention of Shorrock Green Hall. In fact 
the house of Thomas Butterworth of Shorrock Green is 
registered as a dissenter meeting place at the Quarter Sessions circa 1735. As we will evidence there were many 
properties located around Shorrock Green at this time. 
The property referred to at this location is in fact Withalgh House, or Whithalgh Tenement. This is corroborated by: 

? The name given to the road in front of it on the 1831 sales plan. 
? Blackburn Grammar School records that describe it as a house, barn and 29 acres that was gifted to them 

in 1625 by James Withalgh, a governor of the school. It was then let as a farm tenancy and provided the 
school with income for many years. 

? There are records of various leases over the next 100 years or so, until around 1726. 
? There are two leases of particular interest which confirm a joint tenancy between two school 

governors - Yates (Stanley House) and Clayton (The family of the Blackburn Parish Church vicar). In 
1666 it is noted that Leonard Clayton, clerk, of Shorrock Green had 7 hearths taxed, as the occupier of 
the house. In 1673 it is noted that Yates Stanley House estate at Mellor was contiguous with the 
school land, indicating it ran to the east from Whithalgh House. The arrangement seems to have been 
that the land was worked as an extension to the Yates estate, but the house occupied by the 
Claytons. 

DEFINITION STUDY AND ACCESS STATEMENTS AND 
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? In 1793, whilst assembling the land for his new home, Sudell acquired Whithalgh Great Meadow and 
part of the Barn Field from the Grammar School, in an exchange for some of the land he already owned. 
The land Sudell gave in exchange was Nearer Green Meadow, Further Green Field, Shorrock Green Croft, 
and part of Meadow Field. All clearly associated with Shorrock Green. These were fields in front of 
Whithalgh House and forming part of the site of this proposal. 

? In 1801 Sudell bought the exchanged fields back from the school. 
2. The diversion of Further Lane 

Despite being highlighted in the 19/5/22 TAG note supplied by the applicant, Sudell diversion has 
not been dealt with in the Character Study. Yates 1786 map presented below is, however, very 
helpful in understanding Sudell intentions for his newly acquired land. 

The road situated above the area noted on the map as 
Sugar House. (Cooks Farm 
at Withalgh. The remnants of hedges along this stretch of road are what the applicant refers to as 

above the road.) At Sugar House the road heads north-east towards a T-junction 
Green takes a flat route from Ravens Wings to 

Avenue on 
road turns left at the Deer House before falling to Arley Fold. Here it meets the bottom of the Avenue from Stanley 
House. This last section of the old road, as it approaches Arley Fold, meanders consistent with the descent, and 
would have been difficult for carriages to negotiate. 

Green A left turn at Whithalgh takes the road to Mellor, a right turn, the road to Blackburn. The Blackburn 

Sudell had in mind a new route for his carriage journey to Blackburn. (Note, the New Turnpike Road was not 
constructed until much later in 1827/8, when Sudell had left Woodfold after becoming bankrupt). 
By 1801 Sudell owned all the land he needed to implement his plan. Sometime after Yates 1786 map, but before 
Greenwood 1818 map, Sudell closed the old road at Ravens Wings and rerouted it north re-joining the road 
above Whithalgh at a new cross roads. Here he constructed a new, flatter carriage track that connected with the 
Stanley House Avenue much closer to the top. He built the 
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park wall alongside the new carriage road and imparked the land behind Whithalgh that he had previously 
acquired from the school by exchange. The wall extended as far as the Deer House before turning to Ravens 
Wings. Greenwood map below illustrates this point well: 

Sudell did this deliberately to move the public road further away from the Park, and to create a new, improved route 
for his carriage drive to Blackburn. He had created space to construct his offices, stables and a gatehouse in the 
right-angle formed by the new park walls. 
Most significantly in terms of the current Woodfold Villa proposal, he applied a design master- stroke. By moving 
the road north, beyond the ridge, he screened the stables and parkland from view from the new Further Lane using 
the topography of the land. This is evidenced in a Character Study photograph that shows the view from Further 
Lane with just the top of the stables visible above the ridge. From the new Further Lane the rural community looked 
much as it always had. He had hidden the park in plain sight. 
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Image showing the remnants of the old road (not an ̀avenue`) between Sugar House and Whithalgh are evident on 
the 1840s OS map (below). 

Until 1827 Sudell deliberately and purposefully implemented his scheme. The 1831 sale plan evidences that 
scheme. The area behind the stables/farm was exactly how he envisaged it, marked out as paddocks to turn out his 
horses, totally consistent with it use today. The striking southern elevation of the stables was designed to be seen 
from within his parkland, standing proud above the pleasure gardens. 

3. Shorrock Green 
The application erroneously describes the hamlet of Shorrock Green as sitting on the triangular application site 
between the park walls and Further Lane. Yates map below shows the area of Shorrocks Green stretching across 
from Alum Scar Lane in the west to Arley Fold in the east, and bounded to the south by Arley Brook. On the other 
side of the brook, to the south, the area is known as Shorrocks Hey. 
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All properties on the road bounding the site north of the brook are likely to have been known as Shorrock Green 
throughout the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries, particularly because the premises have significant 
relationships between them. The 1840 OS map shows a number of wells in the vicinity of Ravens Wing and on 
higher ground. Water flowed via Channels House & Little Channels to the Tun House (tannery) on Alum Scar Lane. 

are also indicated at Wallbanks House. Green Hurst Farm is also associated by name with the area of 
Shorrock Green, meaning wooded hill on the green (see below). 

The areas of Shorrocks Green and Shorrocks Hey became (what is now known as) Woodfold Park. After this 
it is likely that the inhabitants of premises on the road lying above the Park still regarded 

themselves as living at Shorrock Green, explaining the name sitting further north on the 1841 OS map. 
4. Situation of The Villa 

No examples are provided where such a villa has been added to an existing country estate outside of the parkland. 
Quite why the proprietor of such a grand estate would choose to place the villa between the farm and workers 
cottages is unclear. It`s location here is inconsistent with an entertainment villa as it is not part of the imparked 
land and does not benefit from any of the splendid views on offer. It is also inconsistent with Sudell lifestyle, 
supported by the D&A Statement which questions his absence from the Guild. 
It is also disingenuous to suggest this would be a natural extension of the work of the landscape designer, because 
the successors to the Estate were wealthy people who continued to add to the Park. Notably there is an 
entertainment venue at the White House, a two-storey bay windowed banqueting house. Perfectly situated, sitting 
just above the lake near the pheasantry, with fantastic views across the parklands to the mansion house, aviary 
and pleasure gardens beyond. 
The use of the triangle of land behind the farm has always been functional. Sitting above the northern slopes of the 
Park, only the ornate southern elevation of the stable block was visible from the Park. The main entrance to the 
Mansion was from the south and this northern gateway was a service entrance. Sudell purposefully created it the 
way it was, and in later ownership the triangle 
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behind remained integral to the running of the Estate. Fowden Hindle built the workers cottages at Huntsmans, and 
the Thwaites installed the Estate Water Supply towards Cooks Farm. 
Sudell design very deliberately used the ridge in the triangle to screen the stable block from the public road. The 
Park was not intended to be visible from outside its walls, and the views from within the walls were focussed on the 
designed landscape. The site was carefully chosen to create a masterpiece, carefully crafted using the topography, 
tree planting and walling to limit views and keep the deer inside the Park. People who lived close to Woodfold for 
many years did not know it was there. It was designed as a hidden gem. 
Contrast that with this proposal. The speculative purchase of part of a field, the engagement of a specialist team of 
experts tasked to design a house with the best chance of getting through the planning process, a belated right to 
buy arrangement with the neighbour in order to complete the design concept, and a resulting scheme that puts this 
imposing building on full view to those within the imparked area and from outside of it. Ostentatious in it extreme. 
This was never Henry Sudell intention for his park. 
CONCLUSION 
Paragraph 80 is not engaged because the site remains part of the long-established linear settlement that bounded 
Shorrock Green, and is connected to Nabs Head. 
Paragraph 134 is not engaged because the development does not fit in with its surroundings. Paragraph 147 is 
engaged because there are no special circumstances. 
In summary, the application does not stand up to scrutiny. It is what it appears to be, a fanciful and brazen attempt 
to obtain permission to build a new weekend retreat in a desirable location (or perhaps a future hotel/wedding 
venue?). 
The proposal does not enhance the setting, because the historical character of the setting has been misinterpreted 
and misunderstood in the preparatory work completed on behalf of the applicant. This work has been used by the 
TAG and by Counsel to draw flawed conclusions. Examples of those errors are: 

? Shorrock Green Hall is apparently a fabrication, absent from any map submitted with the application 
(1786 to 1910) indicating that the applicant was also unable to place it. This is in contrast to many lesser 
properties being named on maps consistently throughout the period. 

? Whithalgh House was not 

? Sudell`s diversion of Further Lane is strangely omitted from the Character Study, yet is the most striking 
evidence of the intention to naturally screen the stable block and parkland from the public road (the 
view from the ridge of the imaginary Avenue on the triangle is irrelevant). The view from the new Further 
Lane remained largely the same, and the rural settlement from Nabs Head to Bolton Fold was left very 
much unaltered by Sudell`s scheme. 

1800 it was no longer a grand house, having been a tenanted farm since 1625. There was no ̀avenue` 
between the House and Sugar House, just the remnants of the roadside hedge to the old road. The 
House was demolished by 1860 to make way for the Huntsmans Cottages. 

into Henry Sudell scheme; it just happened to be there. By 

? Shorrock Green was mis-located, and the settlement that had assembled around it was overlooked. 
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